11-14-84

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 65,192

SID J. VIII JUL SO 1984
CLERK, SUPINANE YOURT

STATE OF FLORIDA, ex rel. ORNETA M. QUIGLEY,

Petitioner,

vs.

JAMES WEBSTER QUIGLEY,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 83-1501

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES A. PETERS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

Department of Legal Affairs Civil Division The Capitol - Suite 1501 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-9935

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, State of Florida, ex rel Orneta Quigley, will be referred to as "Petitioner." The Respondent, James Webster Quigley, will be referred to as "Respondent" or "exhusband."

The Uniform Reciprocal Enforcement of Support Act will be referred to as "U.R.E.S.A."

Necessary portions of the Record - the Opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal, the Stipulated Statement of the record below which was submitted to the Second District, the Order of Dismissal, and the Motion to Dismiss - are attached to Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The simple facts of this case are presented in the parties' Stipulated Statement which was filed in the District Court in lieu of a record on August 3, 1983. (The parties identified themselves as Plaintiff and Defendant before the Florida trial court). Orneta Quigley's petition was filed in Michigan to initiate support proceedings under the Uniform Reciprocal Enforcement of Support Act ("U.R.E.S.A.") to enforce a 1978 alimony order entered in her favor against James Webster Quigley (ex-husband) (Stipulated Statement, Exhibit A-1). A certificate and order was entered by the Circuit Court for the County of Wayne, Michigan on November 4, 1982, certifying that the petition sets forth facts from which it may be determined that the husband owes the duty of support of alimony and that the Circuit Court in Lee County, Florida may obtain jurisdiction over this issue.

In defense of the petition, the attorney for the ex-husband filed a motion to dismiss alleging that Ch. 88, F.S., provides remedies only for arrearages of child support and does not include alimony. An Order of Dismissal was entered on June 6, 1983 for this alleged jurisdictional deficiency. Notice of Appeal was filed on June 29, 1983.

The parties briefed the sole issue on appeal, whether the trial court erred in holding that it did not have jurisdiction to enforce a foreign judgment of alimony under U.R.E.S.A. In its'

March 16, 1984 Opinion, reported at 446 So.2d 1174, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's dismissal and held the Florida court lacks subject matter jurisdiction under Florida's U.R.E.S.A. to enforce an alimony provision of an outof-state divorce judgment. That Opinion expressly acknowledges the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in Helmick v. Helmick, 436 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) which held to the contrary. Its conclusion derives from a construction of the statement of intent inserted at §88.012, F.S. by a 1979 amendment to U.R.E.S.A. The Chapter Law effecting that amendment, Ch. 79-383, is attached hereto as Appendix A.

On April 10, 1984 Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court as the opinion of the Second District Court affects a class of constitutional officers who are assigned enforcement responsibilities pursuant to Ch. 88, F.S., and because the opinion conflicts with Helmick v.
Helmick. Discretionary jurisdiction was granted by this Court on 9 July, 1984.

ARGUMENT

THE COURTS BELOW ERRED IN HOLDING THAT FLORIDA COURTS DO NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO ENFORCE A FOREIGN JUDGMENT OF ALIMONY UNDER THE UNIFORM RECIPROCAL ENFORCEMENT OF SUPPORT ACT.

Rules of construction, statements of purpose, definitions, other language in Ch. 88, F.S., Florida's U.R.E.S.A., and interpretations of the uniform act in this and other states require the conclusion that the trial court had jurisdiction to enforce the support order under U.R.E.S.A.

A. The decision below read too much into the statement of legislative intent made by Laws of Florida Ch. 79-383.

It has long been recognized that amendment by implication is not favored and will not be upheld in doubtful cases. State v. J.R.M., 388 So.2d 1227 (Fla. 1980). Contrary to this rule against implied amendments, the Court below decided

it is logical to conclude that the Legislature's reason for injecting Section 88.012 was to evince its disapproval of that construction

that U.R.E.S.A. was to apply to both child support and alimony.

This conclusion overlooks the fact that there is another and less destructive "reason for injecting Section 88.012" into U.R.E.S.A. by the 1979 amendment. That reason was the Florida IV-D program in Ch. 409 which is recognized in the text of \$88.012.

That program was implemented in 1976 by Ch. 76-220, Laws of Florida. By that law the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services was designated the state agency responsible for the administration of the Child Support Enforcement Program under Title IV-D of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. \$1302. (See \$409.2557, F.S.) The conclusion of the Second District Court, then, assigns an unsubstantiated and destructive motive to the statement where a more obvious motive of record exists. In so doing the Court amended by implication both the scope and the plain meaning of other portions of Ch. 88 which were untouched by the Ch. 79-383 amendment. Those portions had a history of constructions consistent with the holding of Helmick v. Helmick, i.e., that U.R.E.S.A. applies to alimony.

As was correctly noted in the Fifth District's opinion in Helmick and as was specifically noted in Justice Cowart's concurring opinion

If this was the Legislature's intent in reenacting U.R.E.S.A. (to restrict the word support to only child support) it should have clearly expressed this intent by providing new definitions.

Section 88.012 is the only section in the entire Act which emphasizes child support. No where else is it even attempted to distinguish between alimony and child support or any other type of support.

If the Legislature had meant to distinguish between child support and alimony it would have defined this term, especially in light of previous

judicial interpretation applying U.R.E.S.A. to alimony awards. (e. s.)

436 So.2d 1123, 1124. See also the opinion of Judge Cowart, concurring specially, at 436 So.2d 1126.

There is, in any event, broader language at §88.012 which states the statute provides a remedy "pertaining to family desertion and nonsupport of children" and that the state's existing common law and statutory remedies "shall be augmented by additional remedies" directed to resources of responsible parents as mandated by the Florida IV-D program in Ch. 409. The 1979 amendment clearly states

the remedies provided herein shall be in addition to and not in lieu of existing remedies.

Clearly, that statement of intent cannot properly be construed to impliedly repeal alimony support actions which were previously available under the statute.

B. Conspicuously, the Legislature did <u>not</u> in 1979 amend the title of the Chapter to read "Uniform Recriprocal Enforcement of Child Support." Nor did the Legislature amend so as to restrict key definitions of "duty of support" [§88.031(3)]¹;

 $^{^{1}}$ Section 88.031(3) broadly provides:

[&]quot;Duty of support" means a duty of support whether imposed or imposable by law or by order, decree, or judgment of any court, whether interlocutory or final or whether incidental to an action (cont'd on next page)

"petitioner" [§88.031(9)]²; "respondent" [§88.031(15)]³; or "support order" [§88.031(19)]⁴. Indeed, the definition of "prosecuting attorney" at §88.031(11) continues to mean the state attorney "who has the duty to enforce laws relating to the failure to provide the <u>support of any person</u>". These words should be read in their plain meaning. <u>Tatzel v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1978); Reino v. State, 352 So.2d 853 (Fla.

for dissolution of marriage, separation, separate maintenance, or otherwise, and includes the duty to pay arrearages of support past due and unpaid.

Subsection (9) provides:

"Petitioner" means a person, including a state or political subdivision, to whom a duty of support is owed or a person, including a state or political subdivision, who has commenced a proceeding for enforcement of an alleged duty of support or for registration of a support order. . . .

3 Subsection (15) provides:

"Respondent" means any person owing a duty of support or against whom a proceeding for the enforcement of a duty of support or registration of a support order is commenced.

 4 Support order is defined by subsection (19) to mean:

[A]ny judgment, decree, or order of support in favor of a petitioner, whether temporary or final or subject to modification, revocation, or remission, regardless of the kind of action or proceeding in which it is entered. (e.s.)

1977). If the Legislature meant "child" it would have substituted that word.

If, as the Second District Court of Appeal concluded, it was the intention of the Legislature to restrict the meaning of "support" to exclude alimony and to be limited to child support, there was, in the above-quoted passages, ample opportunity and a requirement to further amend other portions of U.R.E.S.A. to evidence that intention. Because there were no such changes, the drastic destructive amendment which the Second District has reached by implication should not be affirmed.

C. Other amendments made to Ch. 88, F.S., by Ch. 79-383 are consistent with the reading that "support" includes more than just child support. "Prosecuting attorney," as defined at \$88.021(11), has a duty to enforce laws relating to the failure to provide "for the support of any person." Pursuant to \$88.065(1) the Governor may demand the surrender of the person charged in this state with failing to provide for the support "of a person" and, pursuant to subsection (2) the Governor of another state may make a demand upon the Governor of Florida for the surrender of a person charged in another state with the failure to provide "for the support of a person." Surely the Legislature was aware of the difference between "person" and "child." Although all children are "persons," all "persons" are not children. The legislature is assumed to know the meaning of the

words used. <u>Thayer v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976); <u>S.F.G.</u>

<u>Corp. v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1979). Clearly the duty of support addressed by Ch. 88 after its 1979 amendments is to that broader population.

D. The alimony payment which this former spouse seeks is nothing but a 1978 support order of the Michigan court. Black's Law Dictionary, Revised Fourth Edition, defines alimony to be "the sustenance or support of the wife by her divorced husband and stems from the common-law right of the wife to support by the husband"

That the words alimony and support are synonymous was recognized in Attorney General Opinion No. 077-77:

Alimony has long been recognized by the Florida courts as one type of sustenance and support, originally emanating from the common-law obligation of a husband to support his wife, and couched within the equitable powers of the court to grant an allowance to the wife from the husband for her support in a divorce action. Floyd v. Floyd, 108 So. 896 (Fla. 1926); Berger v Berger, 166 So.2d 433, conformed to 166 So.2d 694 (Fla. 1964); Simon v. Simon, 123 So.2d 41 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960). In reviewing the provisions of the act (U.R.E.S.A.) as embodied within Ch. 88, I find no express language or intent which would indicate that the support of the act should be limited to child support alone.

E. Consistent with this Attorney General's opinion, this Court ruled in Thompson v. Thompson, 93 So.2d 90 (Fla. 1957),

that alimony was a proper subject for a U.R.E.S.A. action because alimony is a "duty of support:"

The 1953 Florida Act was of the type first brought into existence in New York in 1949; the 1955 Florida Act is based on the Uniform Reciprocal Enforcement of Support Act approved by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws in 1950, as amended in 1952. The purpose of the 1953 Florida Act was to secure support for "dependent wives and children" only, whereas the 1955 Florida Act applies to "any person to whom a duty of support is owed". The 1955 Florida Act specifically provides that "duty of support" includes a duty imposed or imposable "by any court order, decree or judgment, whether interlocutory or final, whether incidental to a proceeding for divorce, judicial separation, separate maintenance or otherwise." 93 So.2d 92, 93

Ironically, the Second District Court has enforced a Connecticut alimony pursuant to U.R.E.S.A. Friedly v. Friedly, 303 So.2d 50 (2d DCA 1974). More recently, the Fourth District Court of Appeal recognized in Wright v. Wright, 411 So.2d 1334, 1336 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), that U.R.E.S.A. did not preclude an award of (even) retroactive alimony. Both the Fifth District Court's Helmick decision, 436 So.2d at 1123, and Quigley at 446 So.2d 1174 acknowledged that U.R.E.S.A. was previously construed to include alimony.

F. Section 88.311, F.S., requires that U.R.E.S.A. "shall be so construed as to effectuate its general purpose and to make uniform the law of those states which enact it." The purpose of

the act is "to improve and extend by reciprocal legislation the enforcement of duties of support." §88.021, F.S.

Because of this purpose and because U.R.E.S.A. is a uniform act, this Court may look beyond the territorial boundaries of Florida for constructions of it. Florida Statutes, §88.311 mandates this. Courts of appeal of other jurisdictions have enforced the act to include support for spouses and dependents.

See, e.g., Oneill v. Oneill, 420 So.2d 264 (Ala. 1982); Davis v. Contorno, 234 So.2d 470 (La. 1st DCA); Davidson v. Davidson, 405 P.2d 261 (Wash. 1965); Government of Virgin Islands v. Lorillard, 358 F.2d 172 (3d Cir. 1966) ("the act is broad enough to authorize the enforcement of a duty to support a wife if such a duty is found to exist"); Porter v. Porter, 267 N.E.2d 299 (Ohio 1971); Weller v. Weller, 480 P.2d 379 (C.A. Ariz. 1971); Davidoff v. Davidoff, 115 A.2d 892 (Pa. 1955); Mullis v. Mullis, 669 P.2d 763 (Okl. 1983).

This conclusion should direct this Court to a broader definition of "support."

G. U.R.E.S.A. is a remedial act which provides redress to individuals whose attempts to establish family relationships have failed. The act was "designed to provide expedient and inexpensive interstate procedures for enforcing support of the family," Clark v. Clark, 139 So.2d 195, 197 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962). The act was "designed for the purpose of enforcing the legal

obligation of a husband and father to support his wife and children. . . . " Cox v. State, 180 So.2d 467, 470 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965).

Welfare of the state as it intends to relieve the burden of support which would otherwise be borne by an entitled spouse or by the general citizenry through public assistance programs. Such statutes are entitled to liberal construction so as to advance the remedies provided. State v. Hamilton, 388 So.2d 561 (Fla. 1980); City of Miami Beach v. Berns, 45 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1971); Mullis v. Mullis, 669 P.2d 765 (Okl. 1983); Davidson v. Davidson, 405 P.2d 261 (Wash. 1965).

The conclusion that U.R.E.S.A. does not permit recovery of an alimony support order is anathema to that public policy. Florida's courts have an interest in enforcing foreign support decrees to prevent Florida from becoming a haven for fugitive spouses. Fugassi v. Fugassi, 332 So.2d 695 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). Likewise, Florida citizens should, under this act be able to look to other participating states for enforcement of support orders entered by Florida courts. Inability to do so, under the restrictive construction of the Second District, will disserve the Florida public.

The restrictive implied amendment adopted by the Second

District Court should not survive under these facts and this case

law.

CONCLUSION

Since 1978 Orneta Quigley had a court ordered entitlement to support from her Michigan divorce decree. Section 88.081, F.S., provides that duties of support applicable under this act are those imposed under the laws of any state where respondent was present. Notwithstanding the Second District Court of Appeal's implied repeal, alimony was and is "support" under Florida law. Other courts' decisions and other parts of Ch. 88 attest to that conclusion.

The orders of the lower courts should be reversed, Florida jurisdiction should be accepted, and the ex-husband's adjudicated duty of support should be enforced under U.R.E.S.A. Florida courts have jurisdiction to enforce a foreign judgment of alimony under U.R.E.S.A.