OA 11-14.84,

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, ex rel. ORNETA M. QUIGLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES WEBSTER QUIGLEY,

Respondent.

Casecusik, Supreme Court

By Chef Deputy Clerk

A PROCEEDING FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JAMES WEBSTER QUIGLEY

Robert L. Donald and William C. Merchant PAVESE, SHIELDS, GARNER, HAVERFIELD, DALTON & HARRISON Attorneys for Respondent 1833 Hendry Street P.O. Drawer 1507 Fort Myers, FL 33902 (813) 334-2195

INTRODUCTION

This is a proceeding for discetionary review of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal, State ex rel. Quigley v. Quigley, 446 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). Petitioner State of Florida ex rel. Orneta M. Quigley will be addressed herein as "the State" or "Ms. Quigley," as the situation dictates. Respondent James W. Quigley will be addressed by name or as the Respondent. Reference to the record on appeal will be indicated by "R" followed by a page number or numbers. There is an Appendix to this Answer Brief, and reference to it will be indicated by "App" followed by a page number or numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts set forth in the State's Initial Brief.

ISSUE FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

DID THE SECOND DISTRICT ERR IN HOLDING THAT CHAPTER 88 OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES CANNOT BE UTILIZED TO ENFORCE FOREIGN ALIMONY JUDGMENTS?

ARGUMENT

As the State notes in its Initial Brief, the opinion of the Second District directly conflicts with a case from the Fifth District on essentially the same question, Helmick v. Helmick, 436 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). The Second District's

opinion in the instant case and the Fifth District's <u>Helmick</u> opinion explicitly set forth the rationales used by the respective courts, thereby allowing this Court to resolve the conflict in large part simply by reading and comparing the two opinions.

Both have been included in the Appendix. (App 1-15)

The State's Initial Brief by-and-large reiterates the arguments made by the Fifth District in support of its decision in Helmick. Rather than setting forth the Second District's opposing rationale, the Respondent merely refers this Court to the Second District's opinion as being the more logically sound. Indeed, the Second District had the benefit of the Helmick case when the instant case was decided, and specifically rejected its holding. It is respectfully submitted that this Court will likewise reject Helmick after both opinions are considered.

Especially important in determining legislative intent is the legislative history of the statute in question. Florida adopted the original Uniform Reciprocal Enforcement of Support Act in 1955. Ch. 29901, Laws of Florida (1955). The National Conference of Commissioners of Uniform State Laws revised URESA in 1968. 9A Uniform Laws Annotated p.643 (1979). Florida adopted the revisions in 1979, and in so doing inserted the provision that is central to this proceeding. Ch. 79-383, Laws of Florida. Chapter 79-383 conformed Chapter 88 to the revised version of URESA, but it also added Section 88.012. There is no

similar provision in any other state's version of URESA.*

Section 88.012 is entitled "Legislative Intent," so there can be no doubt that this statute was enacted expressly for the purpose of reflecting the Legislature's intent. The statute provides in five different places that Chapter 88 is for the purpose of enforcing "orders of support for children." The Legislature could not have more plainly expressed its meaning.

The Fifth District in <u>Helmick</u> and the State in this proceeding contend that if the Legislature had truely intended to bar alimony judgments from the coverage of Chapter 88, it would have amended other sections that define "support." However, a review of the sections to which the State refers, <u>i.e.</u>, Sections 88.031(3), .031(9), .031(15), and .031(19), shows that none of them define "support" as specifically including alimony. Section 88.031(19) does say that an order of support is "any judgment, decree, or order of support in favor of a petitioner," but of course a child-support award would be in favor of the child's custodial parent, and that parent would be the petitioner in the URESA action. So there is nothing in the body of URESA itself that conflicts with the plainly expressed legislative intent of Section 88.012 that the Florida version of URESA shall apply only to child-support awards.

^{*}So the interpretation that other states have placed upon their versions of URESA is irrelevant, since they do not contain provisions similar to Section 88.012.

The State contends that the term "support" naturally includes alimony, and that URESA should be so construed. Yet the case law does not support this assertion. The case of Schroeder v. Schroeder, 430 So.2d 604 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) is closely analogous to the instant one. There the husband obtained a divorce decree in Illinois. The wife, who lived in Florida, brought a suit for alimony in Florida. She served the husband in Illinois pursuant to Section 48.193, which allows personal service on out-of-state defendants in "an independent action for support of dependents." The trial court held that the wife could not obtain jurisdiction over the husband under this statute because the term "support of dependants" was not synonymous with alimony. On appeal, the Fourth District framed the question thusly:

The appellant contends that the emphasized portions of §48.193(1)(e) provides for personal service over appellee. The proposition is only true if the phrase "support of dependents" includes or is equivalent to the term "alimony." We conclude these concepts are neither synonymous nor mutually inclusive.

430 So.2d at 605. The court then considered the cases dealing with the meaning of the terms involved, and held: "Thus, if we interpret the statute in compliance with the ordinary meanings traditionally accorded these terms, support does not include alimony." Id. (Emphasis added.) Applying the logic of Schroeder to the instant case, the term "support" in Chapter 88 does not encompass alimony.

The State also relies upon 1977 Op.Att'y.Gen.Fla. 077-77 (July 26, 1977). Oddly enough, this Opinion actually supports

the position of the Respondent. As mentioned previously, Section 88.012 was added by the legislature in 1979. The crux of the Attorney General's Opinion, written in 1977, is the following:
"In reviewing the provisions of the act as embodied within Chapter 88, supra, I find no expressed language or intent which would indicate that the scope of the act should be limited to child support alone." Thus the Attorney General based his opinion on the fact that there was nothing in Chapter 88 which indicated that the Act was to be limited to child support alone. Two years later the legislature added Section 88.012 to Chapter 88, and this Section contains "express language" indicating that the scope of the Act should be limited to child support. Therefore, the very logic of the 1977 Attorney General's Opinion supports the position of the Respondent.

The State also cites several Florida cases in support of its position. The first such case is Thompson, 93 So.2d 90 (Fla. 1957), where this Court enforced a combined alimony/child support provision under URESA. This Court did not confront the issue of whether alimony by itself was properly enforceable under URESA, this not being a point raised in the appeal. But more importantly, the court was not dealing with the revised URESA that was only adopted in 1979; rather, the court was dealing with the original version of URESA, which did not contain Section 88.012 or its equivalent.

The State also relies upon <u>Wright v. Wright</u>, 411 So.2d 1334 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). A perusal of that case shows that it in no way addresses the issue of whether a foreign alimony decree is properly enforceable under Chapter 88. In fact, the case does not even deal with Chapter 88, other than mentioning it once in passing. So there is no authority from Florida, other than <u>Helmick</u>, that disagrees explicitly or implicitly with the Second District's holding in the instant case.

There are several reasons the Legislature chose to make URESA applicable only to child-support awards. As the State itself notes, Section 88.012 expressly mentions Chapter 409 of the Florida Statutes. Chapter 409 deals with Aid to Families with Dependent Children, a program jointly funded by the state and federal governments. Children 18 years old or younger are eligible for these benefits. Section 409.235, Florida Statutes (1983). Thus the states and the federal government have the financial burden of supporting children that are not being supported by their parents. There is no similar burden on behalf of the states to support impecunious ex-spouses. Thus the Legislature could legitimately have distinguished between alimony and child support—if the states don't assist each other in collecting child support, the taxpayers will suffer. But the same is not true for alimony.

There is still another facet of the AFDC issue that lends credence to the legislative determination that Chapter 88 should apply only to child support. 42 U.S.C. §658(a) provides that

when a state or one of its subdivisions assists in the collection of child support ordered by a court in another state, the assisting state gets a credit toward the share it owes for AFDC. So there might be a direct economic inducement to assist someone from another state to collect child support. There is no such inducement for alimony.

It is interesting to note in passing that 1984 Legislature made a distinction between alimony and child support in its revision of Chapter 61 of the Florida Statutes. See Chapter 84-110, Laws of Florida. So there is nothing unusual about such a distinction, since alimony and child support concern different societal policy considerations.

It must be emphasized that the Legislature's limitation of Chapter 88 to child support does not leave an ex-spouse without a remedy. The ex-spouse can always domesticate the foreign judgment, just like any other foreign-judgment holder. This is a rather simple procedure that consists of presenting the properly authenticated documents from the foreign jurisdiction to the Florida court. See Courtheoux v. George, 410 So.2d 532 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). Recently the Legislature has passed a new law, Chapter 84-5, Laws of Florida, which provides that foreign judgments may now be domesticated by simply recording them in the office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court. So after the effective date of this new law (October 1, 1984) the domestication of a foreign judgment will not even require a court appearance.

So limiting Chapter 88 to child-support awards does not deprive an ex-spouse of a remedy; rather, it simply does not extend the extraordinary remedy to alimony awards that is accorded to child-support awards. Considering the economic realities of the situation, it makes eminent sense that the Legislature would not wish to provide gratis legal services to an ex-spouse from a foreign jurisdiction that already has available the same remedies as other foreign-judgment holders.

The Second District noted that legislative intent is the "polestar" of statutory interpretation. Here the legislative intent is plainly expressed in a statute aptly entitled "Legislative Intent." To accept the Helmick rationale would be to ignore the clear legislative expression. The Second District chose to honor the legislative intent, and the State has not produced any authority that would justify a departure from this traditional means of construing legislative enactments.

Wherefore, it is respectfully submitted that the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal should be approved.

Respectfully submitted,

PAVESE, SHIELDS, GARNER, HAVERFIELD, DALTON & HARRISON Attorneys for Respondent 1833 Hendry Street P.O. Drawer 1507 Fort Myers, FL 33902 (813) 334-2195

Bv:

ROBERT L. DONALD and WILLIAM C. MERCHANT